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            PREFACE

         

         I HAD ORIGINALLY PLANNED to call this book Comrade Jeremy. The two words seem to me to capture the perfect paradox of Jeremy Corbyn’s life: his first name suggests the epitome of the middle-class, middle-aged, former grammar school boy who grew up in ease and privilege amid the pastoral delights of the English Shires. And yet from his early teens, the man who is now Labour leader has devoted himself to the international socialist class struggle, the causes and values of the left. As time went on, however, and Corbyn’s ascent to the leadership became first a possibility then a probability and finally a reality, events overtook me. It was ‘Comrade Corbyn’, rather than ‘Comrade Jeremy’, that seemed to have gained traction on Twitter and elsewhere. The people had spoken. The title was changed. As this book recounts, it is by no means the first time during the story of Jeremy Corbyn’s rise to power that best-laid plans have been overthrown by the whirlwind of social media surrounding him.

         The book’s subtitle (a reference to Chris Mullin’s 1982 novel A Very British Coup) highlights the most unexpected nature of Corbyn’s victory. When he entered the Labour leadership race in the spring of 2015, it seemed doubtful he would receive enough nominations from his fellow MPs to make it on to the ballot, let alone emerge triumphant from the contest three months later. The story of how Corbyn stormed the barricades of New Labour to capture his party while inspiring a new mass movement of energised and excited left-wing ‘Corbynistas’ is as unlikely – and as gripping – as any plot a novelist could have dreamed up.

         Corbyn is uneasy about any examination of his past, and uncomfortable with what he views as intrusive interest in his personal life. He did not cooperate with this book, and initially discouraged his friends and family from speaking to me. Like his mentor Tony Benn, Corbyn believes that the personal is irrelevant; the political is everything. But as one of my interviewees said to me, Benn espoused this view ‘while establishing one of the greatest personality cults of the last century’. Corbyn too now finds himself a leader (unlike Benn, an elected one), and it is little surprise that his many followers – as well as those who have their doubts – want to find out more. This book attempts to answer some of their questions, and seeks to explain the extraordinary events of the summer of 2015, when a rank outsider from the far Labour left swept to the leadership of one of Britain’s great parties. The personal is political.

         In writing this account, I have not sought to create a hagiography, but nor is it a hatchet job; it is a first attempt to understand and define the phenomenon that is Labour leader Jeremy Corbyn. In the course of my research, I have come to see him as a complex figure, with a clear thread running through his life. From the young activist who had to be persuaded to stand as an MP, to the dedicated campaigner who only gradually assumed the role of left-wing figurehead, to the political veteran who took weeks to agree to enter the 2015 leadership contest, Corbyn likes to be seen as a reluctant, almost unambitious figure who has had greatness thrust upon him. The man who emerges from these pages is, however, far more than an accidental hero. Once Corbyn accepts a challenge, he seizes it and fights to the very last: a formidable, uncompromising operator lurks beneath his gentle demeanour. This, then, is Comrade Corbyn.

         If Corbyn himself was unwilling to be interviewed, I have been extremely fortunate in the large numbers of people from all stages of his life, from family and schoolfriends to fellow MPs and political activists, foes as well as fellow travellers, who have agreed to participate in this book, with interviews given both on and off the record. For ease of reference, it should be assumed that unless otherwise attributed all quotes are taken from interviews conducted during the course of the summer and autumn of 2015. This applies equally to quotes which appear anonymously. To help the flow of the narrative, when referring to members of the House of Lords I have tended to use first names rather than titles for politicians who are rather better known by the former. I hope their Lordships will forgive me.

         I am grateful to all the many people who generously gave up their time and memories. I would also like to thank the team at Biteback Publishing, particularly Iain Dale, James Stephens and Olivia Beattie for taking on this project and turning it around with the (crazy) speed we felt necessary to meet the thirst to know more about Corbyn. Thanks too to my agent, Victoria Hobbs from AM Heath; everyone at the Telegraph, especially Chris Evans, Robert Winnett, Robert Mendick and Kate Mayer; Bobbie Gillespie, for his kindness in sharing his research; Matthew Bell and Matthew Tempest.

         My warmest thanks and love too to my family, Beth, Nick, Linda, Clara, Anya, Stephen and Laurie, for their patience and many kindnesses, with special thanks to my husband, Conor, and father, Peter, early and sage readers..

         
             

         

         ROSA PRINCE,

         DECEMBER 2015

      

   


   
      

         
            PROLOGUE

            12 SEPTEMBER 2015

         

         THE LAST TIME I had stepped inside the concrete and glass of Westminster’s Queen Elizabeth II Conference Centre it had been as a reporter to hear Tony Blair defend himself at the Iraq Inquiry, the seemingly interminable public investigation into the 2003 toppling of Saddam Hussein and invasion of Iraq. Now, five and a half years later, I was back, this time to watch Blair’s nemesis Jeremy Corbyn, the man who helped found the Stop the War Coalition and called for the former Prime Minister to be impeached, crowned his successor as Leader of the Labour Party.

         The contrast between the two occasions should have been stark. While 20 January 2011 had been bitterly cold, the sun was shining for Corbyn’s big day. Many of those who had waited outside to jeer Blair five years ago had also returned, their rage turned to jubilation at Corbyn’s victory. And yet for all the differences, the atmosphere was no less tense. It didn’t feel like a happy occasion. Around me people stood in small groups whispering; many were angry and bitter at the way the contest had played out. Even Corbyn’s supporters seemed somehow joyless, the hostility of those around them taking away something of the pleasure of victory. Their cries of ‘Jez We Can, Jez We Did’ felt defiant.

         Inside the large but somehow claustrophobic hall where the result of the contest was to be announced, rows of seated Labour activists eyed each other warily. It was stiflingly hot, and the mood was fractious. On stage, in front of an electric red backdrop lit up with platitudinous slogans, the speakers – all men – called for unity and comradeship, but the audience didn’t feel very friendly. Sitting directly in front of the stage, the candidates smiled and chatted quietly to one another; their supporters could not hide their emotions. ‘I want to kill half the people in this room,’ one texted me.

         When Corbyn spoke, he too seemed less gladdened by his victory than vindicated. He accused the media of ‘abuse’ and vowed to take on the Conservative government over its welfare cuts and attacks on trade union power, concluding: ‘Poverty isn’t inevitable. Things can, and they will, change.’ A man behind me complained when I failed to join the standing ovation. Under New Labour, my chair would have been kicked for not rising for the leader, he muttered.

         I left the cavernous red room as quickly as possible and emerged into the by now brilliant sunshine. Outside, more ecstatic Corbyn supporters waited to welcome their new leader, while camera crews and journalists pounced on emerging politicians, offering outlets for their bile. There was no shortage of takers. Corbyn headed to the pub, where he sang ‘The Red Flag’, before attending his first event as leader: a protest in Parliament Square in support of refugees. Comrade Corbyn was making clear at the outset where his priorities lay: with the people and causes he had fought on behalf of for more than forty years.

         I left him to it, got in my car and set off out of London along the M40, M42, M6 and finally the M54, into the heart of middle England. It took three hours, and while I drove I listened to the radio as MPs past and present expressed amazement at what had transpired, along with fears about the future of the party in Corbyn’s hands. Just across the Shropshire border, I left the motorway and, after driving for ten minutes along an A-road, took a left turn at a sign for the Lilleshall national sports centre, where many of Britain’s Olympians train, and found myself on the country lane where Corbyn grew up.

         It took quite a while to find his actual house, the former Corbyn family home being so posh that it doesn’t have a number, just a name. Lost, I drove a mile or so down the length of the lane and found myself in Newport, his nearest town when he was a boy, today home to about 15,000 people. There were parades of pretty Victorian shops and a fine church, St Nicholas, now Anglican but dating back in parts to the thirteenth century, 300 years before the Church of England came into being. Wikipedia told me that Newport was a Britain in Bloom finalist. It seemed an incongruous place for a people’s revolutionary to have spent his formative years.

         Back on the lane, beside a row of tall leafy trees blocking the house beyond, I finally spied an entrance gate with a plaque: Yew Tree Manor. This was it, the place Jeremy Corbyn had lived from the age of seven until he left home, where he first learned what it meant to be a socialist, discussed politics with his three lively brothers and was taught by his improbably left-wing parents to empathise with those less fortunate than himself. I was reminded of a story I had been told by his brother, that on purchasing the property in the 1950s, their mother Naomi had renamed it Yew Tree House, believing it sounded more modest. The current owners had changed it back again.

         As I drove through the gates and crunched down the gravel drive, the word ‘manor’ certainly seemed to fit. I had seen photographs of the house beforehand, but they didn’t do justice to the size and splendour of what I beheld. The handsome red-brick, seventeenth-century manor house was made up of three distinct sections, with a lovely old outbuilding attached. There were climbing vines around the windows and pink flowers blooming beside the front door. A shiny black Jag was parked out front, and flanking the house were trim green lawns and beautifully maintained gardens. The day was still warm and beautiful; somewhere nearby a horse whinnied.

         David Askin, Yew Tree Manor’s current owner, who bought it from the Corbyns for £40,000 in 1979, met me at the front door, gave me a cup of tea and kindly agreed to show me around. The house was all low ceilings and wooden beams, generously sized rooms extending off into yet more rooms; a large, open kitchen with a utility area and sculleries; living rooms, reception rooms, dens. It was a wonderful place to bring up a family up, we agreed.

         Mr Askin took me outside and showed me the paddocks where his daughter-in-law now kept her horses: two ponies and two impressive bay thoroughbreds. As the horses cropped the grass, he pointed out in the middle of the field a strange brick tower, about four feet high, which, Mr Askin said, Corbyn’s closest brother Piers, now a somewhat controversial long-range forecaster, had used as a weather station.

         We leaned on the gate to the paddock and surveyed the scene in the last of the afternoon sun. So this was where Comrade Corbyn had come from, this tranquil, prosperous bubble of ease and order. It seemed a world away from the heat and recrimination of Westminster. What an extraordinary journey Labour’s new leader has gone on, I thought to myself.

         Now let me take you on it.

      

   


   
      

         
            CHAPTER ONE

            UNLIKELY SOCIALISTS

         

         THE YOUNG MAN listened rapt as the trade union official regaled his audience of electrical engineers with stories of meeting his Communist hero, Leon Trotsky. It was 1936 and David Corbyn was twenty-one years old and newly apprenticed to learn the trade. Discussion among the men moved on to the horrors unfolding a thousand miles away in Spain, where a brave coalition of anarchists, Communists and peasants was fighting and dying in olive groves and medieval towns, in ultimately futile resistance to the brutality of General Francisco Franco’s fascist Republican Army. ‘Look, look, comrades,’ the speaker cried. ‘We’ve got to go and support the Spanish Relief Committee here.’ Casting his eye around the room, his gaze alighted on David. ‘Corbyn, you go!’ he ordered.1

         David was not an obvious radical, having been brought up in middle-class comfort as the son of a suburban solicitor, but on taking up his engineering apprenticeship he had joined the trade union along with the other young workers. He found their discussions inspiring. Ultimately, his membership of the union would change the course of British politics, thanks to the huge influence his politics, and those of his soon-to-be wife, would have in forming those of their youngest son, Jeremy.

         While David was politically aware, he was still a very young man, living at home with his parents in Ealing, west London. When, as instructed, he went to the meeting of the Spanish Civil War Redress Committee, it is perhaps no surprise that his thoughts began to wander from the plight of his Nacionales comrades on the Spanish front to the alluring figure of a young woman seated close by. Naomi Josling was also twenty-one, born a month after David, in June 1915. Years later David would tell his third-oldest son Piers the story of how he came to be at the committee meeting, concluding: ‘And that’s where I met your mother.’ ‘How did you know it was my mother?’ the child Piers asked, making his father laugh.2 When Piers pushed David to say what had attracted him to his wife-to-be, he replied, ‘I remember her hips and she wore a hat.’3

         Jeremy Corbyn viewed his parents’ first meeting somewhat differently, once telling an event in his constituency that the ‘committed socialists’ had met ‘in solidarity’ at Conway Hall, Holborn.4 On another occasion he said: ‘Mum and Dad met campaigning on the Spanish Civil War. Both were active peace campaigners.’5 There was no mention of hats or hips. It was a characteristically impersonal account. The new Labour leader does not like to talk about his early life; he prefers to give the impression that he arrived in north London from nowhere, his beliefs amorphously arrived at, his background a blur, the first decades a mystery. In fact, Corbyn is very much the product of his upbringing; a middle-class boy born to highly unlikely socialists.

         For all Corbyn’s decades of devotion to the causes of struggling peoples in far-flung places, from Latin America to Palestine, the Chagos Islands to Russia, his own roots are decidedly European. His family tree, which can be traced back centuries, is littered with Williams and Johns, Emilys and Charlottes, Jameses and Edwards. And, while strikingly similar to each other, there is little in either David or Naomi’s backgrounds to suggest they would be drawn to fight for social justice for the working classes. Indeed, in some branches of Corbyn’s ancestral line the reverse is true. Soon after his election, the Sunday Express claimed to have found a rather sinister figure in Corbyn’s lineage, a James Sargent, born to a family of clothworkers in Gloucestershire in 1822, who went on to run a workhouse in Farnham in Surrey, described at the time as ‘a scandal and a curse to a country which calls itself civilised and Christian’.6 At his first conference address, the new leader joked: ‘I want to apologise for not doing the decent thing and going back in time to have a word with him.’

         According to family legend, the original Corbyns were French Huguenots, Protestants who fled persecution by the Catholic authorities, arriving in England in the early eighteenth century. He has also suggested there is a ‘Jewish element in the family, probably from Germany’.7 Corbyn’s paternal grandfather Benjamin was also the child of a garment worker, one of seven children born to William and Louisa Corbyn, from Lowestoft in Suffolk. William was a prosperous tailor with more than one shop in the town, which brought in enough money to enable him to pay for his son to train as a solicitor. Benjamin married Dorothy Bush in 1914, the year before David was born, when he was twenty-nine and she twenty-seven. It was the eve of the First World War. Dorothy had been born in New Southgate, north London, close to the area Jeremy Corbyn would later represent. The daughter of a chemist from Hethersett in Norfolk, it was perhaps her father’s connection to the east of England that led Dorothy to take a job in Lowestoft working as a primary school teacher.

         After training as an articled clerk in Lowestoft and qualifying as a solicitor, Benjamin moved with his wife and young son to Ealing, west London. Their home was a comfortable Edwardian terraced house. He became active in a local discussion group devoted to the work of the League of Nations, the body set up following the First World War that became a precursor to the United Nations. League of Nationers tended to be those who saw internationalism as a solution to the horrors of war, a view Benjamin’s grandson Jeremy would go on to share.

         When Dorothy died in 1945 she left £214, 6s., 3d. to her husband. Benjamin lived for another twenty-three years until the age of eighty-three, leaving £22,460, a not inconsiderable amount for the time. His own son David’s estate would be valued at just £20,000 more when he died nearly two decades later, worth rather less than Benjamin’s in real terms. Jeremy’s oldest brother, who is also called David, says of his father’s family:

         
            They were good honest workers. It was not significantly inherited wealth. It had come from a tailor’s business in Lowestoft. They had plenty of struggling, you could tell that. I don’t think my father’s side were particularly well off, to be honest. I wouldn’t say they were wealthy. Although he was a solicitor, which is a fairly good job, it wasn’t up in the top lot [conducting] high-level cases; he was dealing with the hard-working lot. He was partner in a business in Ealing for a long time.

         

         After school, David Senior attended Acton Technical College, receiving a diploma in electrical engineering. Despite the flair he showed for his subject, and the good job he landed with Westinghouse Brake and Signal Company, his father Benjamin is said to have been disappointed that he had gone into a trade rather than a profession. Naomi’s father Ernest Josling was also unimpressed by his daughter’s beau. According to Piers Corbyn, Ernest was a ‘terrible snob’ who believed David was beneath Naomi socially.8

         The accusation of snootiness is slightly surprising, given that, while Ernest was born in prosperous West Dulwich, south London, his wife, Caroline Stott, was from the Isle of Dogs, in the East End, which at the time of her birth in 1879, four years after her husband, was primarily home to workers on the local docks. Following their marriage in Plymouth in 1903, Corbyn’s maternal grandparents, the Joslings, moved around the country several times before settling back in London. By the time of the 1911 census they were living in North Finchley, just to the west of Jeremy Corbyn’s future constituency of Islington North, and were well enough off that Caroline Josling was not working and had the help of a live-in domestic servant, seventeen-year-old Margaret Shilling. Ernest entered his occupation on the census as a ‘surveyor and valuer’. His projects as a quantity surveyor included Chatham Docks in Kent, and the harbour at either Malta or Gibraltar (his grandsons cannot now recall which). Naomi is said by her oldest son David to have spent her childhood in a village in Berkshire, before the family returned to London once again.

         One of Naomi’s brothers, Kenneth, who would become a Church of England vicar, went to Oxford University (where he was a rowing blue) and it was perhaps this that inspired Naomi to seek a higher education for herself. She attended London University, graduating, like her husband, in a ceremony held at the Albert Hall. Her son David says women were ‘discouraged’ from going to college at the time: ‘My mother Naomi went to university, which was very unusual in those days and I think [her] parents didn’t entirely approve. Chemistry and Psychology were her degrees. She did a lot of teaching over the years using her university education.’

         By coincidence, when David and Naomi met, the Joslings were living a few minutes’ walk from the Corbyns, in Ealing, west London, in a house that – despite Ernest’s snobbishness – was similar in size and scale to that of her soon-to-be in-laws. The times were heady ones politically for the couple, and indeed the wider world; within a few years there would be few people anywhere on the globe whose lives would be untouched by the horrors of war. Already, Spain was falling to Franco’s fascists and Germany was in the full grip of Hitler’s Nazi Party. Corbyn would later say that his father had hoped to serve with the International Brigade in Spain, but ‘his health wouldn’t allow it’.9 He did not specify the nature of his father’s complaint. Across Britain, Sir Oswald Mosley held rallies where he mesmerised crowds with stirring rhetoric against Communists and Jews. He marched his thuggish band of paramilitary followers, known as the British Union of Fascists (BUF), through city streets, intimidating the UK’s small Jewish communities. With Hitler, Franco and Mussolini all in ascendence, Mosley’s progress seemed equally inexorable until one day in October 1936, around the time that David and Naomi met, when a rag-tag army of anti-fascists and Jews fought a pitched battle against the BUF Blackshirts through the streets of the East End of London. Naomi Josling was among them; her presence a future badge of honour for her son Jeremy.

         On the outbreak of war with Germany in 1939, David and Naomi decided to marry. Ernest was not happy about the betrothal. The couple’s third son, Piers, has suggested that his parents felt unable to wed until after Ernest’s death, adding that it was something Naomi always felt guilty about. ‘My mother believed in justice,’ Piers has said. ‘She had big disagreements with her father and her father didn’t want her to marry my father. He thought she was marrying down.’ In fact, death records show it was Caroline Josling who passed away shortly before the couple, by now both aged twenty-five, wed in Brentford in 1940. Caroline’s will bequeathed £446, 2s., 11d. in effects to her daughter, ‘Naomi Loveday Josling (spinster)’. Ernest did not die for another three years, his substantial fortune of £9,525, 18s., 1d. going to Naomi’s brother Harold, suggesting she had remained estranged from her father.

         Having wed during the war, Naomi must have been concerned that David would be drafted to fight. To her relief, at the outbreak of hostilities, Westinghouse was awarded a contract with the Ministry of Defence, and David was soon employed in top-secret work for the war effort. His job was officially listed as a ‘reserved occupation’, a post considered too important to the course of the conflict for him to be enlisted for active service. Instead, as the Battle of Britain raged around them, both Naomi and David worked as air raid wardens in London. Days after his election as leader, after being criticised for remaining silent during the singing of the national anthem at a memorial service at St Paul’s Cathedral to commemorate the Blitz, Corbyn explained that his thoughts had been with his parents: ‘I was thinking about my family, my mum and dad, who were there at that time in London.’10

         And what of David and Naomi’s politics? How did two children of the Edwardian middle classes come to hold such idealistic views? In an interview given to the academic and social researcher John Davis in 2010, Piers Corbyn suggested that his parents’ beliefs had at root a pragmatic, scientific aspect, the Corbyns viewing socialism as the most logical method of running the planet. ‘The[y] were sort of radical … well, they were socialist sorts,’ he said. ‘They probably believed in … science and socialism being the salvation of mankind.’ But while both David and Naomi considered themselves left-wing, their politics went no further than that. Their hero was Clement Attlee, the post-war Labour Prime Minister whose administration saw the creation of the National Health Service and the welfare state, rather than Joseph Stalin. Although Piers claims David was at one point approached and invited to join the Communist Party (presumably his war work made him an attractive proposition to the Russians), he preferred to stay within the environs of mainstream politics.

         ‘They weren’t into that sort of covert operations,’ Piers said. ‘They were straightforward political activists of a sort in the Labour Party.’11

         When Westinghouse moved their war operations to their plant in Chippenham in Wiltshire, located near the railway station, the Corbyns went with the firm. David’s speciality before and after the war was rectifiers – electrical devices that convert alternative currents (AC) into direct currents (DC) – but the precise nature of his war work is shrouded in mystery. His oldest son David says: ‘It was mostly railway stuff they were making, but they almost certainly did other, possibly secret, things.’

         The couple made their home at 57 Greenway Gardens, a three-bedroomed semi with a pleasant garden in the back. Their first child was born in 1942, at the height of the war, when the future of humanity itself seemed in peril. They named him after his father, and began the custom, broken only with the birth of Jeremy, of referring to their children by their middle names. David Junior was known as Edward to his family. A second son, John Andrew, followed two years later, and a third, Piers Richard, in 1947. While David and Piers later reverted to their first names except with very close family, Andrew would be known by his middle name until his death in 2001.

         After the war, David would regale his sons with tales of serving with the Home Guard: ‘Real Dad’s Army stuff’, the younger David Corbyn says, including a story of the platoon receiving a consignment of boots, only to realise they were all for left feet. ‘Sharper than the average lot’, David Senior’s crew tracked the right boots down to the Home Guard HQ in the nearby town of Malmesbury, and, after scrounging some petrol, at the time subject to rationing, and despite the absence of sign posts, removed to confound a possible invasion by the Germans, made their way there to retrieve them.

         Despite the fun stories, the younger David now realises that the war must have placed an enormous strain on both his parents, as it did on everyone of their generation – made a little easier perhaps by their relief that, unlike most men his age, his father’s life was not directly at risk. ‘I probably didn’t appreciate it at the time, but you began to as you grew up because there were other people at school who had obviously lost parents. I remember that in the village as well,’ David says.

         The village was Kington St Michael, about three miles outside Chippenham, where the Corbyns moved in 1948. And it was here, having come into the world in Chippenham Cottage Hospital on 26 May 1949, as the Attlee government was in the process of nationalising the gas industry, six weeks after the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) was signed into being, and a fortnight before George Orwell published Nineteen Eighty-Four, that their youngest child, Jeremy Bernard Corbyn, was taken home. 

      

   


   
      

         
            CHAPTER TWO

            AN IDYLLIC CHILDHOOD

         

         BY ANY RECKONING, Jeremy Corbyn enjoyed an idyllic childhood, with loving parents who took care over his education, paid close attention to his boyish interests and hobbies and had the funds to make his life one of ease and comfort. His three siblings were so close in age as to be proper friends, and there were enough of them that there was always someone to play with. He was educated – at times, expensively – at exclusive, selective schools considered among the best in the area. The two homes he grew up in were spacious, beautiful and historic; despite the size of the family, he always had his own bedroom. Outside, there were gardens, lawns and paddocks; workshops and outbuildings, where he could mess about with engines with his father and brothers. If he tired of all that, he could wander off and explore some of the most beautiful countryside in England, fish in the local river, take a look around nearby stately homes or simply soak up the atmosphere of the ancient villages and towns where his parents made their home.

         For two Londoners, David and Naomi Corbyn clearly had a love of the outdoors and enjoyed the pastoral life. They chose to live in quaint hamlets and remote villages, in sprawling, beautiful old buildings that dated back two, three or even four hundred years. One was a manor house so large it had once been a hotel. Their final decade was spent in a thatched cottage in a picture postcard village in Wiltshire, in the shadow of one of that county’s famous chalk horses.

         The couple began their country life in Hillside House, a large stone property close to the picturesque village of Kington St Michael. Dating back to before the Domesday Book of 1086 and with a plethora of stunning listed buildings and attractive holiday cottages, Kington St Michael is today home to around 700 inhabitants, and has become something of a tourist destination for those exploring England’s idyllic West Country. Among its many attractions is Priory Manor, which dates back to the twelfth century, when it served as a nunnery and a home for paupers. Even in the Corbyns’ day, the village was an extremely pleasant place to live: comfortable, affluent and largely untouched by post-war austerity. David Corbyn, Jeremy’s father, continued to work in Chippenham, and acquired a car to drive the three miles into town and back every day. The purchase of a car set the Corbyns apart from most people in post-war England. As late as 1960, only one in forty of the population owned a motor vehicle. Work was going well for David, and with the war out of the way, his firm, Westinghouse, could afford to give him a decent pay rise. Around the time of Jeremy’s birth, he had applied for a patent for an ‘electrically operated vibrator apparatus’,12 and perhaps this too was bringing in money.

         The Corbyn’s third son Piers has insisted that his parents bought the large homes the boys grew up in at ‘giveaway prices’.13 Today the detached, five-bedroom, seventeenth-century Hillside House is valued at £610,000. Although the Corbyns’ new home was large, Jeremy’s oldest brother David Edward, who was six at the time of the move, remembers it as rather bleak. ‘That was quite an unusual house, quite individual,’ he says.

         
            It was called Hillside and it was built into a hill. To me, it faced the wrong way. It faced north, so it was always cold. Initially there were no windows on the west side, so they put windows in and it was much better then. I don’t know why it was built like that.

         

         Along with the house, the Corbyns bought half an acre of land, and with plenty of open fields beyond the garden, the boys were encouraged to run around outside as much as possible. David Senior built himself a garage, in which he installed a workshop for his mechanical projects, and his sons enjoyed helping him out. It was finished around the time of the 1951 Festival of Britain. His son David Edward says: ‘He put a stone Festival of Britain symbol high up on the front of the garage we helped him build.’ Piers also remembered the garage:

         
            I think an important thing about me and my brothers and our upbringing was space … My father was always keen on us having lots of space and being able to do things and try things out. So we had this big garden … and there was a map of the world on the wall in the hallway, and we had a car. There was a little workshop attached to the garage. He was always making things; he was into science, telling us how things worked. So I was brought up thinking, ‘Well, every child has to have a map of the world and garage and a workshop, and that’s how things ought to be, and you could do things in gardens, and make things.’ So it was a very creative environment in the true sense.14

         

         Jeremy too must have gazed at the map of the world and begun to wonder about the lives of those living far away; he would develop an interest in international issues at a remarkably young age.

         David says that with plenty of space to play, the four children enjoyed the outdoor life, getting into lots of ‘active scrapes’. The boys gave each other silly nicknames: Jeremy’s was ‘Jelly’ while Andrew was ‘Dumbo’. ‘We were known as the Corbyn boys,’ Piers has said. ‘We would all dress the same but in colour-coordinated knitted jumpers. [David] Edward’s was green, Andrew’s was red, I was blue and Jeremy wore yellow. They couldn’t be passed down because they were the wrong colour.’ Perhaps Naomi’s somewhat utilitarian approach to dressing her children resulted in her youngest son’s now famous lack of care over his clothes. David Edward claims that Piers and Andrew were even scruffier dressers than Jeremy, and confesses he himself is not overly concerned with fashion.

         Despite the ease of their lifestyle, the boys were raised to believe that they were not especially well off. In his interview with John Davis, Piers rejected the suggestion that the Corbyns were ‘comfortable’, insisting that David and Naomi ‘didn’t get paid much’.15 Still active socialists, it is perhaps not a surprise that the Corbyns were keen to ensure their boys did not grow up with a sense of entitlement or privilege. The Corbyns joined and became active members of the local Labour Party, where David in particular was busy with committees, occasionally getting into quite heated arguments with other members about tactics and strategy. ‘My father was a very organised sort of man,’ Piers has said. ‘They were always political.’16 Politics was discussed at home too, even when the boys were very small. The Corbyns watched with approval as the new Labour government set up the National Health Service and welfare state, and were disappointed when the party lost to the Conservatives at the 1951 general election. ‘I remember round the dinner table, they were always talking politics,’ Piers has said. ‘They were big supporters of Attlee.’ With three politically engaged, left-leaning older brothers, and parents devoted to the Labour Party, Corbyn effectively grew up within his own debating chamber; a private salon for discussion and argument.

         A glimpse into the Corbyns’ world view can be seen in a history Naomi wrote later of Stanton St Bernard, the Wiltshire village they moved to in 1979. Although the handsome, prosperous hamlet was owned for centuries by the Earls of Pembroke, Naomi’s introduction sternly makes clear: ‘This is a history of ordinary people.’ She goes on: ‘How they survived the disasters of famine, flood, the destruction in war by ravaging bands, the recurring epidemics and maiming by accident, the changing economic and political systems.’17 It is immediately noticeable that Naomi’s account makes no mention whatsoever of any of the many aristocrats who lived in Stanton over the years. For her, they simply didn’t exist: she airbrushed them from her history as effectively as the Kremlin removed purged Communists from photographs. Her work, which she sold to fellow villagers for a small price, makes clear her close connection to the countryside, as well as her empathy for those who worked it. ‘Through all the years, the endless search for food and fuel, the unremitting toil in fields and farm, there has been the gladness of hills,’ her history concluded. ‘In summer the sky and larks and beauty of the tiny downland flowers too rejoiced those who once walked our ways. The scudding clouds and dark hills of winter were seen as well by other eyes. We remember those who went before.’18 A love of the land and the people who worked it; her son Jeremy would have approved.

         When it came to educating their children, however, the Corbyns took a less egalitarian approach. Their boys would not mix with the sons and daughters of the working classes whom Naomi so admired, but would go to the best schools in the area, even if that meant paying. When the family was still living in Kington St Michael, they sent their children not to the primary school situated conveniently in the village church, where, according to one contemporary, ‘everybody went’, but to a convent school called St Margaret’s. There the boys were known as ‘Nons’ because they were Protestant and therefore non-Catholic. Corbyn himself has said of his religious instruction: 

         
            My mum was a Bible-reading atheist – no, agnostic, probably. She had been brought up in a religious environment, and her brother was a vicar, and there was quite a lot of clergy in her family … My father was a Christian, and attended church, and the school that I went to was religious – we had hymns and prayers every morning.19

         

         A belief in education clearly trumped Naomi and David’s faith in the Church of England, however. Piers has said of his parents:

         
            They sent us off to schools where we would learn something. We were all sent to St Margaret’s Convent School, although we’re not Catholics. My father was some sort of believer, I would say. But my mother was a militant non-believer. I suppose it sort of taught you a few things there. They were good at doing reading, writing and arithmetic.20

         

         Presumably the establishment Piers was referring to was St Margaret’s School, on the other side of Chippenham from Kington St Michael, in the village of Calne. It is a prep school, with fees of £3,500 to £4,200 a term, depending on the age of the child. The Corbyns saw no contradiction between their socialism and their sons’ attendance at private and selective schools. They would send the boys to a private preparatory school in Shropshire a few years later too, and Naomi would become a teacher at a grammar school. Despite their offspring’s later insistence that they were not wealthy, school fees for four children would have been a substantial financial drain. The decision to enrol the boys at fee-paying and selective establishments rather than the local schools their village friends went to was perhaps viewed by Corbyn as hypocritical, even at the time. He would take starkly different choices when it came to his own sons’ education, not yielding from his belief in sending children to local state schools even when it cost him his second marriage.

         In 1953, the Corbyns’ oldest son David Edward passed the feared eleven-plus exam, which enabled him to attend Chippenham Grammar School. The system at the time required children to sit a test that to a large extent determined their future: those passing were entitled to go to grammar schools, where they received a fine education; failures went to the secondary modern, where they were put on a track designed to lead to a job in a manual, non-professional trade. All four of the Corbyn boys would go on to pass the eleven-plus, which, given their strong interest in their children’s education, must have been a relief to their parents. It also saved on school fees; the Corbyns clearly believed that the quality of the education on offer at grammar schools was good enough that they need not opt out of the state system altogether.

         Soon after his oldest son began attending Chippenham Grammar, David Corbyn was headhunted by English Electric, a larger firm than Westinghouse, based in Stafford, which would later become part of the global conglomerate General Electric Company (GEC). By now he was gaining a name for himself in the industry as a brilliant electrical engineer, working long hours on projects around the country, which took him away from home and cut into the amount of time he had to spend on the Labour Party. He often discussed his work with his boys. David Edward, who followed his father into engineering, first with cars and later aeroplanes, becoming a test pilot for Concorde, was gripped by his talk.

         
            He’d been doing work at Westinghouse on germanium semi-conductor rectifiers. It was a very new technology, and they were pioneering the use of it. He later specialised in high-power electrical engineering, big currents, big problems. I don’t know how he got to English Electric in Stafford, but they were investigating the use of semiconductor rectifiers and succeeding in so doing. He’d do things like [work on] big changes to the salt industry in Cheshire, where electrolysis was used to turn it into sodium and chlorine. So he’d be toddling off to salt processing mines in Cheshire, trying to make all this stuff work.

         

         With his new job several hours’ drive from their Wiltshire village, David Senior was forced to stay away from home during the week. He filled his lonely hours by exploring the local countryside, and began to spend his nights at a small country hotel called Yew Tree Manor, about half an hour’s drive from Stafford, across the county border in Shropshire. In the nearby market town of Newport was the highly regarded Adams’ Grammar School, a state establishment but with the unusual option of offering boarding. With Andrew approaching secondary school age, the decision was taken to send him to board at the Adams’ School. Piers has suggested his parents’ motivation may have been that Andrew had failed the eleven-plus in Wiltshire but, because there were not standardised tests, was able to re-sit in Shropshire.21 There was the added bonus that Andrew could keep David company on the long drives home to Wiltshire at the weekend.

         Piers has said that Andrew did not enjoy boarding,22 and after a year the family made plans to join him in Shropshire, moving in 1956, when Jeremy was seven. David did not look far when deciding where the family should live. Having fallen in love with the country hotel he had been staying in, Yew Tree Manor, he made the owners an offer and it was accepted. When the Corbyns sold the property more than twenty years later, the purchasers were amused to see that there were still numbers over the bedroom doors, testimony to the property’s past.

         The Corbyns’ new home was even more splendid than the last one had been. The seventeenth-century property had originally been part of the estate of the Duke of Sutherland, whose peerage was created by William IV in 1833 and whose country seat was the nearby Lilleshall Hall, now run by Sport England as a national sports centre. It had five bedrooms upstairs and another two downstairs, which were converted into living rooms by the Corbyns. Outside there were gardens, lawns and a paddock. As she did in all her homes, Naomi planted a vegetable patch, where she grew food for the family to eat. The house was set back from what was then a busy main road but has since become a sleepy country lane thanks to the construction of a relief road. The Corbyns’ closest town was Newport, where the boys would all go to school. Although small, with just 4,000 inhabitants, it was prosperous. One of Corbyn’s contemporaries at the Adams’ School later described Newport as: ‘A market town with a proper cattle market, and it was not a natural Labour Party constituency.’

         All the Corbyns sought to play down the magnificence of the home the family would live in for more than two decades. Piers has claimed that their father renamed it Yew Tree House to make it sound more modest,23 while David remembers it being his mother’s decision, saying she found the term ‘manor’ inappropriate, although that was the name on the deeds. ‘We weren’t to have delusions of grandeur,’ David says. ‘It was just a home. It was quite a big house [but] it wasn’t that unusual in those days. It’s not in London. There were farm houses around us that were much better.’ Jeremy Corbyn also attempted to downplay the magnificence of the home he spent his formative years in, describing it as an ‘old farm’.24 ‘It was far too big but we had a whale of a time,’ Piers added.25

         Friends would later describe the Corbyns’ as a ‘chaotic, bohemian household’,26 with little parental interference. As well as the vast playing space outside his front door, Corbyn was free to roam the local laneways. He enjoyed fishing in a nearby river and visiting local farms, sometimes helping out in the fields. Of the four boys, the others brothers say, Corbyn was the least interested in his parents’ passions of science and engineering, although he did enjoy helping his father out with his car. While Piers in particular pestered their father with constant questions about the way things worked, Jeremy was content to curl up with a book.

         A favourite game of both Piers and Jeremy was bicycle polo, which they would play on their lawn with other children from the village, chasing after a ball with hockey sticks while the Davids, father and son, tinkered away on the car in the outbuilding they had converted into a workshop. They even had a forge, which they used to make all manner of contraptions. Occasionally, Naomi, who had got a job as a maths teacher at Stafford Grammar School, would come out to complain about the noise, before disappearing again. It is said that the only time the house would be locked was when the family went on their annual holiday – when invariably they could not find the key. Often, David Senior took the boys potholing and caving, inspiring Andrew’s interest in geology – he would later becoming an expert mining engineer – and the Corbyns’ second son assembled an impressive rock collection. His brother David says: ‘Many family outings he would overload the car with his rock and fossil samples. We would say, “You have to work out, Andrew, that your small samples all add up to a lot of weight!”’ Piers, already interested in weather, built his own observation station, complete with ‘thermometers, a homemade rain gauge and, to measure wind speed, an anemometer cobbled together from pieces of copper sheet, some curtain rod and part of a bicycle wheel’.27 It was a comfortable existence, where the intellectual curiosities of each of the boys were encouraged.

         One of the local children who came to Yew Tree Manor to play, David Mann, has fond memories of the Corbyns. He confirms that, however ordinary the boys believed their home to be, to other people it was an impressive sight. ‘It seemed huge … with big reception rooms and a large fireplace.’ Mann, who grew up in a bungalow half a mile from the Corbyns’ home, has said: ‘Jeremy’s mum was the first woman our family knew who had been to university. The house was a bit chaotic and very bohemian. There were books everywhere. Jeremy was very mechanical. We built wooden go-karts, which we pushed from behind, and set up a race track in the garden.’28 Another local boy says his main memory of Yew Tree Manor was of ‘delivering the milk to them’, adding that locally the Corbyns were thought of as some of the ‘affluent ones’. However, yet another schoolfriend, Phil Williamson, describes the Corbyns’ as an ‘ordinary middle-class household’. ‘They weren’t impoverished. He wasn’t brought up by coal miners, but this idea that he was brought up in the lap of luxury isn’t quite right,’ Williamson says.

         Although they had become instant friends as seven-year-olds when the Corbyns moved to the village, Jeremy and David Mann did not attend the same primary school. While Mann was sent with most of the rest of the village children to the local state school, St Nicholas’s in Newport, Jeremy and Piers were dispatched to the fee-paying Castle House Prep School, located in a Grade II-listed building a few minutes’ walk further up the high street. It was known at the time as ‘Miss Pitchford’s School’ after Zellah Pitchford, the long-serving headmistress, who was something of a character. Fees at Castle House currently stand at £2,275 for younger children, £2,425 for older, and for the Corbyns the main advantage of the school, then as now, would have been the far smaller class sizes than at Mann’s primary school. It was also a ‘feeder’ for the Adams’ School. If Jeremy was cognisant of the privileged education he was receiving, Mann was under no illusions. ‘Castle House pupils wore smart blue uniforms. We were too young to be aware of a class thing, but everyone knew Castle House was a cut above the rest.’29

         Despite attending different schools, the two boys remained close, with Mann spending every Saturday at Yew Tree Manor. His friend Jeremy was quiet by nature, and very serious for his years. ‘I can’t remember having a laugh with Jeremy,’ Mann has said. ‘He was always very focused. He did strike me, even at that young age, as an individualist who knew his own mind. If you want to be along with me, fine. If you don’t, well, you go and do something else.’30 And then, in 1960, the friends were brought together during the week as well as at weekends. Despite the differences in their early education, both passed their eleven-plus and, in September, David Mann and Jeremy Corbyn joined David Edward, Andrew and Piers Corbyn at the Adams’ Grammar School, Newport.

      

   


   
      

         
            CHAPTER THREE

            BOY TO MAN

         

         THE ADAMS’ School in Newport was founded in 1656, during the brief period of English history known as the Interregnum, when Parliament, and not a monarch, ruled the country. It seems a wonderfully apt place for Jeremy Corbyn, who as an MP would call for the royal family to be moved to a more ‘modest’ abode, to have studied. Sadly for the young Jeremy, however, the Adams’ School never really embraced its radical roots. On the restoration of the monarchy four years later, the school applied to have its articles of foundation confirmed by the new regime. A copy of the 1660 Act of Parliament that did so can be seen in the school’s archives to this day. For the remainder of its existence, the Adams’ School has been a pillar of the establishment, described by one former pupil as a ‘grammar school with public school pretensions’. The school hymn is ‘Jerusalem’; its sport rugby; and its motto ‘serve and obey’. Corbyn absolutely hated it.

         During his first year at Adams’ in 1960, all four of the Corbyn boys were enrolled, and none of them seems to have been particularly keen on the place. Eighteen-year-old David sat his A-levels that academic year and did poorly; all his life he would blame an inadequate maths teacher for his failure to master the subject. Andrew must have been a little happier than previously, now that he was living at home with the rest of the family rather than boarding. He was in his final year of O-levels when Jeremy started at the school. Piers has said of Andrew: ‘I don’t think him being a boarder did him any good at all. It was a seriously screwed-up place.’31 Both Piers and Andrew did well academically, getting good A-levels and winning places at Imperial College, London, Andrew to study mining engineering and Piers, physics.

         In his interview with John Davis, Piers expanded on life at the Adams’ Grammar School. Although the teaching was ‘quite good,’ he said that, like many schools in both the state and private sector at the time, it was a place of casual violence, with parents thinking little of teachers and older pupils physically chastising their children, and fights common between boys of all ages. Piers had an interesting theory of why violence which would today seem utterly out of place in an educational establishment was then generally accepted: the ordeal of the Second World War had perhaps inured an entire generation to physical brutality. ‘[In] the environment of those schools, beatings were normal,’ Piers said.

         
            You’d be thrashed by somebody for doing something wrong. It was the standard six whacks … The prefects could do it with a plimsoll. The teachers could cane you. But you see, all schools in those days were like this. If it were beatings going on in any schools now it would be riots … But it was normal … after the war.32

         

         A former pupil who attended Adams’ at the same time as the Corbyns adds: ‘It was a fairly brutal place. Prefects were entitled to flog children and I remember they would make you bend your head down under a table, so that when they hit you, you would hurt yourself by involuntarily banging your head on the underside of the table.’ Another former pupil says boys were flogged for ‘having your cap at a rakish angle’, after which they would ‘have to shake the fucker’s hand’.

         With three older brothers already at the school, Adams’ was familiar to Corbyn even before he walked into the seventeenth-century building for his first day as a grammar school boy. On arrival, he was put into one of the two houses for non-boarders, Clive House, named for Lord Clive, ‘Clive of India’, the eighteenth-century coloniser whose actions Corbyn would come to abhor. Day boys were segregated according to geography, with those from the town of Newport in one house and ‘country bumpkins’, as Piers once described his brother,33 in another. As a fellow country boy, Corbyn’s village friend David Mann was also in Clive, and the pair became even closer. Mann remembers smoking a first cigarette together,34 although Corbyn never picked up the habit. Despite the presence of a pub, The Fox, directly opposite Yew Tree House, there are no stories either of the young Corbyn sneaking in for an underage pint. The future Labour leader never developed a taste for alcohol and is today virtually teetotal. Most of Corbyn’s contemporaries remember him as serious and studious but Mann claims he had to work hard to keep up in class. ‘Jeremy never struck me as the brain of Britain, but he was doggedly determined,’ he said.35 Corbyn himself has said he just wasn’t interested enough in what he was being taught to be a high achiever, preferring to educate himself by reading books of his own choosing, picked up at home. ‘I wasn’t a very good student. I liked reading about things, doing my own course of study.’36 It was an early sign of his confidence in setting his own direction in life.

         As he entered his teens, Corbyn began to get a name for himself as something of a rebel. He was thirteen during the 1962 Cuban Missile Crisis and while the world teetered on the brink of nuclear Armageddon for two nail-biting weeks, he, along with many teenagers of his generation, was both swept up in the drama and appalled by the prospect of the possible annihilation of the planet. Soon afterwards, he joined the Campaign for Nuclear Disarmament (CND), and remains a member to this day. Corbyn also signed up to the League Against Cruel Sports, a move that was to prove problematic in a provincial school where some teachers were enthusiastic riders to hounds and many of his classmates earned pocket money as beaters on local shoots. ‘It’s a hunting county,’ he once told an interviewer,

         
            so I was in a minority in my school in being totally opposed to blood sports and shooting for that matter. I remember on Monday mornings at school, one of the teachers would start on about who had been shooting at the weekend. I said, ‘That’s stupid, it’s cruel, it’s not sport,’ and the same with hunting and all that. I was kind of in a minority of one; there were lots of arguments at school.37

         

         Arguments were not entirely frowned on, however. Philip Davies, who was in the year above Corbyn at the Adams’ School and is now a professor of American Studies, says: ‘While it was a boys’ school of a particular time and type, it was a school that encouraged plenty of political debate.’ Corbyn joined the debating society and began to read as much as he could about politics. Somewhat unusually, the school library subscribed to the far-left Morning Star newspaper, which Corbyn devoured. His sense of right and wrong was acute. One former schoolmate, a prefect, remembers besting Corbyn in a debate by threatening fellow pupils with detention if they didn’t vote for his side. Corbyn was outraged by the injustice and never spoke to him again.

         Those who discussed politics with Corbyn remember him as calm and considered. Philip Davies, who was friendly with Piers and also knew Corbyn, says: ‘He was very serious about his politics, but in a sincere rather than overbearing way. He really wanted you to understand, but he was also funny with a tremendous humour.’ Another boy, Peter Pasquill, says Corbyn was ‘self-effacing, modest, and a very genuine person’. He adds: ‘He was always totally himself, maybe at times some teachers found it a little difficult to get through to him, but he always stuck to his guns and was prepared to argue his corner in a gentle but firm way. I have fond memories of him.’ Pasquill says that Corbyn was ‘a bit of an eccentric’ but ‘popular in his own way and enjoyed stirring up debate’.

         Indeed, the attitude of many of Corbyn’s classmates to this left-wing cuckoo seems remarkably similar to that his fellow MPs would later have of him: although they shared few interests, they respected his commitment to his various causes and found him always to be calm, polite, kind and serious. ‘I take my bloody hat off to him, because he was swimming against the tide,’ says one contemporary of Corbyn’s commitment to left-wing causes. Another fellow pupil remembers him as something of a ‘dilettante, into all sorts of things, and quite studious’. And another contemporary says: ‘I wasn’t in his circle, in fact I wasn’t sure he had a circle. I had the impression that he was a bit insular and not a great mixer.’ Corbyn was described by one schoolfriend as ‘off in his own little world’. His friends also report that Corbyn did not bother overly about his appearance, often finding himself hauled off to the prefects’ study for minor breaches of the rules, such as wearing odd socks, another form of mild dissent that he would carry with him into the House of Commons.

         When Corbyn reached his fifteenth birthday, his rebellion escalated, as he refused to fall into line with the Adams’ School custom of enrolling in the Combined Cadet Force (CCF), the Ministry of Defence-sponsored scheme that gives teenagers a flavour of the military and, then as now, was largely the preserve of private schools. National Service had come to an end only four years earlier, in 1960, the year Corbyn started at Adams’, and the cadet force played a large role in the school’s life, with many pupils going on to Sandhurst, the Royal Air Force College and the Royal Naval College. Cadets took part in the annual Remembrance Day commemorations in Newport and underwent overnight exercises at the nearby Ministry of Defence training camp at Swynnerton. Corbyn wasn’t having any of it. ‘We were all supposed to join a cadet force at the age of fifteen and prance around in uniform every Wednesday,’ he said. ‘The big thing was to visit an army camp at some point. I was again in a minority of one and refused to join this thing, so I was put on gardening duties.’38

         Corbyn’s boast that he was in a minority of one may have been accurate if he was referring to his year, but both Piers and the brothers’ friend Philip Davies, who also came from a left-wing family, had already refused to serve. Davies says those who chose not to take part in the cadet force were known as ‘conscientious objectors’. ‘I have a vague memory that the school made it more difficult to opt out after this, but that they had always accepted that the Corbyn family were intellectually committed objectors,’ he says. ‘Mr Knott, the school caretaker, had our services on CCF afternoon – he taught a group including me the proper way to use a scythe, and we successfully scythed and cleared a complete field.’ Another boy, who despite being a fellow ‘conchie’ was not of Corbyn’s political persuasion, says: ‘I remember we were banished to the confines of the library on Wednesday afternoons. We discussed things fairly vigorously, and how we never came to blows, I’ll never know.’

         Soon after Corbyn declined to join the CCF, in October 1964, a mock election was held to coincide with the general election called by the Conservative Prime Minister, Alec Douglas Home. With David and Andrew having departed Adams’, and the always more politically adventurous Piers standing as a Communist, Jeremy was one of just two Labour supporters in the entire school, and was roundly mocked by his Tory peers for his political beliefs. It was the first election he would take part in, and his worst ever result. His friend Bob Mallett later said: ‘Jeremy was the Labour candidate and I his campaign manager. At a middle-class boarding grammar school in leafy Shropshire, there weren’t many socialists. We were trounced.’39 One classmate who did not vote for Corbyn says he was able to ‘handle a lot of the barracking. He stood his ground.’

         Labour may have lost the election to the Conservatives at the Adams’ School, and indeed in the Corbyns’ constituency of The Wrekin, named for the prominent hill that overlooked much of Shropshire, but nationally the party proved rather more successful, with Harold Wilson becoming Prime Minister on a wave of optimism and excitement. His promise that the ‘white heat of technology’ would deliver the country into a new era seemed to herald a break from the grim years of post-war austerity and the stifling conformity of the 1950s. The Beatles were at No. 1, hemlines were rising and war was once again on the horizon, this time thousands of miles away in Vietnam. In Shropshire, the teenage Corbyn must have been aware that it was he, rather than his Conservative schoolmates, who was in tune with the times. The following year, Corbyn joined his parents and Piers as a member of the Wrekin Labour Party, enrolling in the Young Socialists, the party’s newly constituted youth wing. He later said: ‘I joined as a sixteen-year-old wanting to see a more peaceful and just world. I still believe the Labour Party is the vehicle through which that change can be achieved.’40

         After seventeen months in office, in October 1966, Wilson decided to call a second election in an attempt to shore up his slim majority of just four. This time around, Corbyn set his aspirations somewhat higher than the Adams’ School. The Wrekin was a swing seat, and the incumbent Tory MP, a colourful character called William Yates, who once took a party of 500 constituents on a trip to the French town of Le Touquet to celebrate his birthday, had a majority of just 2,000. Corbyn and his new friends from the Young Socialists were confident they could beat him. Along with Piers, Corbyn went out canvassing on behalf of the Labour candidate, Gerald Fowler. They handed out posters and wore bright yellow badges with the somewhat uninspiring slogans ‘Follow Fowler’ and ‘Fowler is our Fancy’.

         In this, his first proper campaign, Corbyn would display the organisational skills he would later become famous for as a parliamentary agent in north London. To raise money for Fowler’s election war chest, Corbyn volunteered to sell tickets for a dance, to be held at the Royal Victoria Hotel in Newport. The event proved a sell-out, but when the night arrived, hardly anyone showed up. Corbyn had been far more successful at selling tickets than he had been in persuading reluctant dancers they might actually want to attend. Philip Davies, who was there with Piers, was horrified, not least because he had brought along a Conservative friend who was thrilled when he saw the low turn-out, which compared unfavourably to that at the Tory garden party he had taken Davies to. ‘Attendance was crap,’ Davies says. ‘I remember feeling slightly mortified about this.’ Davies was soothed by someone – he cannot now remember whether it was Jeremy, Piers or even Gerald Fowler – pointing out that the most important thing was that the dance had raised a good deal of money.

         On election night, 31 March 1966, Jeremy, Piers and their friends from the Young Socialists stayed up late to listen to the results. Fowler had snuck in by just 846 votes, while nationally Wilson’s majority increased to ninety-six, a great victory. A few weeks later, on the international workers’ holiday of May Day, Piers came up with a fun escapade to celebrate Wilson’s triumph and Fowler’s success. As dawn broke on 1 May, the Young Socialists cycled the ten miles to The Wrekin. On mounting the 400-metre summit, and surveying the breathtaking views of Wales and the Midlands stretched out before them, one of the party, Phil Williamson, recalls that they stuck a red flag in the ground and sang the Labour anthem, ‘The Red Flag’, which begins: ‘The people’s flag is deepest red, it shrouded oft our martyred dead,’ ending with the words Corbyn seems to have taken as a personal motto: ‘Though cowards flinch and traitors sneer, We’ll keep the red flag flying here.’

         Both Jeremy and Piers Corbyn now began to take an interest in the unfolding drama of the Vietnam War. Just as it was around the country, the conflict became a big topic of conversation at the Adams’ School. Piers later remembered that Vietnam led to his interest in far-left politics: ‘We used to debate, argue, endlessly in the sixth form common room about the Vietnam War, and that was my moment of motion, I suppose.’41 Asked what his interests were as a teenager, Corbyn once said: ‘Peace issues. Vietnam. Environmental issues.’42 When Piers began to develop more left-wing views, Corbyn held back. Piers has said: ‘My younger brother, Jeremy, was very interested in the Labour Party Young Socialists and I was involved in them a bit, but not as much as he was. I always thought of myself more of a Communist.’43 Jeremy’s friends got the impression that he was more orthodox than his brother. Philip Davies says:

         
            Piers was always slightly more radical in his perspective, but Jeremy was always rather more a straightforward Labour Party supporter, believing in sorting out a proper working-class organisation. It was a slightly old-fashioned perspective. He and Piers both were lovely, thoughtful and committed. My dad [who was also left-wing] enjoyed talking with them on the few occasions they came around.

         

         At the sporty Adams’ Grammar, Corbyn took no interest in rugby and he seems to have paid little attention to the national game of football, which was not played at the school. Although he would later become an Arsenal season ticket holder and one of his sons is a Premier League coach, Corbyn also apparently took little notice when, in June 1966, a month after his seventeenth birthday, the England football team gathered at Lilleshall Hall, just a few hundred yards down the lane from Yew Tree House, to train for what would eventually become their victorious World Cup campaign. If Corbyn attempted to take a peek at the squad, he appears never to have mentioned it.

         At home, Corbyn’s parents continued to encourage their children’s interests, political and otherwise. Yew Tree House became a regular meeting place for the Wrekin Young Socialists, the big old manor a somewhat unlikely setting for a gathering of would-be radicals. One member, Phil Williamson, says: ‘His parents were very welcoming. We’d go to their house and plan the next event, and were served tea and soft drinks.’ Given his upbringing, Corbyn’s interest in politics was less an expression of rebellion than one of conformity with his parents. For his sixteenth birthday, Naomi, who had always encouraged his interest in modern fiction and history, gave him a collection of George Orwell essays, telling him he should decide his own beliefs and be prepared to stand up for them. He once said: ‘My mum gave me a lot of books – indeed, I’ve got all her Left Book Club books at home.’44 Naomi’s influence on her son’s politics manifested itself in ways both large and small; he told a local history project that his mother had taught him to pay attention to manhole covers. They liked to see if they dated from before or after the nationalisation of the water industry. ‘My mother always said there’s history in drain covers,’ Corbyn said. ‘I take pictures of them. People think it’s a little odd but there we are.’45

         David and Naomi were by now less active in the Labour Party themselves, partly because David had become more successful and busy at work, often travelling internationally. His son, David Junior, says that, highly unusually for the time, his father’s electrical engineering work took him to Russia, where he worked with the railways. Perhaps as a result, David Senior built up a large collection of books about the Soviet Union and Communism. At one stage, he even tried his hand at learning Russian, but gave up, finding it too challenging. It was an unlikely interest, given that this was the height of the Cold War, and with Stalin’s purges now beginning to come to light. David does not seem to have been a Communist, however. Piers, enthused by the space race and the Soviet Union’s achievement in launching Sputnik, the first man-made satellite, in 1957, had been interested in the Soviet Union for some time. Now he began getting a copy of the freesheet Soviet Weekly delivered to the house. He said: ‘My father, I remember, looking through it said, “It’s propaganda. But it’s harmless.” He’d seen all [the] propaganda and understood the nature of Stalinism more than I did, probably.’46

         After leaving the Adams’ School, Corbyn’s oldest brother, David Junior, had moved to Luton to take on an engineering pupillage at a car company, while Andrew had gone first to Imperial College, where Piers joined him in 1965, and later to the Royal Mining College. As he drove Piers to Stafford Station to catch the train to London at the start of his first term at university, David Senior gave his third son a rare piece of parental advice: ‘Work hard and don’t be distracted by girls and politics.’47 They were words of wisdom that would have been only partly relevant for Jeremy. His friend David Mann says that at this stage the future Labour leader was relatively uninterested in girls, preferring to spend his weekends with the Young Socialists or tinkering with the family car.48 Although his passion for politics would abide, Corbyn would soon reverse the order of his other interests, spurning cars in favour of his bicycle and public transport, and going on to marry three times.

         With his two middle brothers away at university in London, Jeremy began to go on trips to the capital, joining Piers on anti-Vietnam demos. Not long after his eighteenth birthday, he took part in a 24-hour fast for Oxfam at Piccadilly Circus. Phil Williamson confirms that, even at this stage, Corbyn saw himself as a backroom figure: ‘He certainly didn’t walk around saying I want to be Prime Minister, however, his strong political interest for justice was always there.’ Philip Davies remembers Corbyn as ‘sincere’ and driven by ‘a very moral sense of what was right for society and good for people, and a genuine wish to improve things for the population as a whole. It was a naive but a deeply moral route.’

         In 1967, Corbyn sat his A-levels, emerging with two E grades, a disappointing result that would be insufficient to get him into university. On his last day at the Adams’ School, he claims, the headmaster, John Roberts, told him: ‘You’ll never make anything of your life.’ Corbyn, whose aversion to confrontation and argument would become well known, simply replied: ‘Thank you.’49 These days he shrugs off his poor educational attainment. Comparing himself to Sir John Major, the former Conservative Prime Minister who left school at sixteen, he once said: ‘John Major said I was better qualified than him. He [only] got O-levels.’50

         Despite his failure to get into university, Corbyn had no intention of remaining in Shropshire any longer than he had to. By now fascinated by international affairs, and, as one of his friends suggests, perhaps inspired by US President John Kennedy’s recently formed Peace Corps, Corbyn applied to the Voluntary Service Overseas (VSO) project and was accepted and sent to Jamaica, then just emerging from colonial rule. His brother David believes he arranged the placement for himself, and it does seem to make sense that a boy who, like his parents, was a joiner, having been a member of various local political and campaigning groups since his early teenage years, would turn to a philanthropic organisation to provide a path for his future when all educational routes seemed blocked. At this stage, the VSO was male-only. Volunteers were largely unskilled, as Corbyn was, and newly graduated from either school or university. In return for two years’ labour, they received basic accommodation, pocket money and the adventure of a lifetime. With few prospects back home in Shropshire, the VSO must have seemed like a lifeline to Corbyn. ‘He was up the creek without a paddle after school,’ his brother David says. ‘He’d got not very good results. He’d got the usual handful of O-levels but he’d not excelled at A-level. So he went on the Voluntary Service Overseas scheme to Jamaica. It was something he wanted to find out more about; he could go as a volunteer, to do good. He obviously learned a lot and probably did do good.’

         One friend who knows Corbyn well believes that by going on VSO rather than to university at the age of eighteen, his political views were arrested, to the extent that he has failed to move on intellectually since his teenage years. ‘I personally have always seen Jeremy as a Peter Pan figure, just not a grown-up,’ the friend says.

         
            I don’t mean that in a mean way, I see that in quite a sweet way, someone who basically grew up pretty middle class in the Shires, went to prep school, went to grammar school, bright, definitely bright … latched onto politics in a kind of geeky way, and rather than going off to university and really getting stuck in, that period ends up [in] going to do VSO, which is a bit like the Peace Corps in a way.

         

         At a time when few Britons travelled abroad, let alone to such an exotic destination as the West Indies, Corbyn’s Jamaican odyssey must have been quite an experience. The first VSO volunteers had gone overseas only in 1958, while Jamaica had gained its independence in 1962, just five years before Corbyn arrived, making him something of a pioneer. In his letters home, he told stories about the strangeness of his new home, although his brother David, who would later become a Concorde test pilot, was just as interested in hearing about the journey by air. ‘We used to quiz him and he’d tell us stories: how different life was there, and the difficulties of getting to or from there,’ David says.

         Once in Jamaica, Corbyn was sent to work as a teacher in a school in a deprived part of the capital, Kingston. It was a world away from the north coast of the island, where rich Americans and Europeans played in the sun. David believes the Foreign Office kept an eye on the VSO recruits, with volunteers summoned to the High Commission for pep talks. Peter Croft, who was in Jamaica for VSO at the same time as Corbyn, has said:

         
            They [the Jamaicans] had gained their independence but there were vestiges of the colonial times. I remember that we had a talk from one of the embassy staff on the etiquette of responding to cocktail parties at the embassy. And I think even for us coming from England it was really a rather dramatic illustration of the contrast in terms of privilege and relative deprivation. Going out to Jamaica at that time changed the way that we looked at the world and changed how we were when we came back to Britain.51

         

         At the Adams’ School, Corbyn had been painfully aware of the disconnect between the world as experienced by most people and the lives of the establishment. In Jamaica, that contrast was even starker. It was an era when the playwright Noël Coward hosted royalty and prime ministers at his hillside home Firefly, while Bob Marley and his fellow reggae musicians inspired the nation’s black youth to embrace their African roots and rise up against the poverty they had been condemned to since their forebears were brought to the island as slaves to pick sugar cane. Corbyn himself has said of his VSO adventure:

         
            The most interesting experience in my life was being sent to Jamaica at the age of eighteen and being told to work with young people. I was only about two years older than most of the kids I was working with. It was pretty hard going actually, but it was wonderful. I didn’t go to university, I did that instead.52

         

         His family say he was struck by the inequality he encountered. There must have been plenty of time for reflection and contemplation. He has said that while in Jamaica he took to poetry; so pleased was he with one verse that he submitted it to the New Statesman for publication.53 Sadly, he heard nothing back. A few months into his Jamaican odyssey, Corbyn first grew the beard that has since become iconic, earning himself the nickname with the locals of ‘Beardman’.54

         Although marijuana was relatively common in Jamaica with the rise of the Rastafari religion, which encourages the smoking of cannabis for spiritual purposes, Corbyn claims not to have used pot as a young man. When, during a hustings organised by LBC for the 2015 leadership contest, the four candidates were asked if they had ever smoked cannabis, Corbyn was the only one to reply in the negative: ‘Really boring, no never,’ he said.55

         With its romantic sights and smells, Jamaica must have been a thrilling place to visit for a boy whose experiences to date had been confined to rural Wiltshire and Shropshire. David Lammy, the MP for Tottenham, who has known him for twenty-five years and whose own background is black Guyanese, believes the time Corbyn spent in Jamaica was life-changing, leading him, on his return to England, to seek out a life among neighbours of more varied backgrounds than those his parents chose to make their home among. ‘In Jamaica he kind of falls in love,’ Lammy says.

         
            Jamaica in those days would have been emerging [into] independence, lots of heated politics … Bob Marley, an Afro-centric perspective, but also tensions with the colonial empire. Basically, psychologically, what he does is he comes back to England, but he comes back to the bit of England that is the closest he can get to Jamaica. He comes to [north London], the heart of multicultural Britain.

         

         Once his time with the VSO had come to an end, Corbyn set off on his own around Latin America, including long stays in Bolivia and Peru, inspiring an abiding interest in the continent. In an era before the internet, communication from home was patchy. As he told the Huffington Post in December 2015:

         
            I was away from home for a long time. I made one phone call the whole time I was away. And when I phoned my home, they were out. We communicated by letter. They had no idea where I was going, I didn’t have much idea where I was going. I thought it was all perfectly OK.

         

         What Corbyn saw of the inequality in Jamaica and Latin America seems to have left an indelible impression. He returned radicalised, and for the rest of his life would be on the far left of British politics. His experiences also fostered a sense of independence and self-sufficiency unusual in a grammar school boy from a close-knit, loving family.

         It must have chaffed to have to return to England after three years away. He resumed living with his parents at Yew Tree House and took a job on a local farm. He developed a rapport with the animals and became a vegetarian, a relatively unusual choice for the time, and one he has stuck to for more than forty-five years. He has said of his decision: ‘I got attached to the pigs and I couldn’t stand the thought that they would have to go off to be slaughtered.’56 So enthusiastic is Corbyn about vegetarianism that he once put down a humorous Early Day Motion (a type of parliamentary petition) congratulating the House of Commons’ canteen on an ‘excellent bean casserole’. Corbyn also worked in the fields and, like his mother, developed a lifelong interest in growing his own fruit and vegetables, later spending many happy hours on his allotment in Islington.

         But life back in Shropshire wasn’t exactly inspiring. In an attempt to shake things up, he next decided on a career in journalism, getting a job on the local paper, the Newport Market Drayton Advertiser. ‘Oh dear, a hick newspaper if ever there was one,’ his brother David says. ‘I don’t think he was a good newspaper reporter.’ Although most of his time was spent covering weddings and funerals, Corbyn seemed to enjoy himself at the paper, rushing around on his bicycle and getting into scrapes with ‘Scoop Norton,’ the Advertiser’s ‘ace reporter’ who wrote most of the major news stories, such as they were.

         On returning from his travels, Corbyn also renewed his association with the Wrekin Labour Party and in May 1972 he travelled to the Lincolnshire seaside town of Skegness to attend the Young Socialists’ Annual Congress. There, in what would later become a habit for Corbyn, he played down his rural background, telling fellow delegates he was from Telford, the new town ten miles and a world away from Newport and Yew Tree House. Among the people he met during the congress were a young politically active married couple, Valerie and Keith Veness, who would go on to be lifelong friends and colleagues in the Labour Party, Keith acting as his agent for some years. Keith Veness remembers Corbyn as ‘the bright young bloke who was the delegate from Telford New Town in Shropshire, where he lived’. For what must have been the first and only time, Corbyn and his new friends found themselves on the right of the gathering, which, Veness says, was ‘full of left groups’. ‘By that time the Militant Tendency had taken it over so we on the hard left, [Labour] party members, were hence on the right of the conference.’

         Despite the fraternal battles, Corbyn enjoyed himself with the Young Socialists. It was a relief to spend time with like-minded spirits such as the Venesses after long years feeling like an outsider in Shropshire. Compared to their lives as political activists in London, the daily beat as a rural local newspaper reporter seemed pretty unexciting. Corbyn’s mother, Naomi, also felt that a career in journalism was not for him, and began pestering him to resume his studies. Soon after the congress, he handed in his notice at the Advertiser and made his way to the capital. He was twenty-two years old and he would never live anywhere but north London again.

      

   


   
      

         
            CHAPTER FOUR

            JANE – AND DIANE

         

         WHEN JEREMY CORBYN arrived in north London in 1973, he felt himself immediately among friends, in a world instantly more of a fit than that of his upbringing. Here were fellow thinkers who shared his vision of a more equal society, and a place where people of all colours and creeds mingled, and no one judged what you wore or how you spent your time. Politics was in the air in the way that it hadn’t been in the countryside; people were engaged, interested in their fellow men and women, and prepared to become involved, to fight for what they believed in. For David and Naomi Corbyn, politics had reached its logical conclusion in a total war, their flight from a London under bombardment by the Nazis leading them to find a sanctuary in the pastoral life. To their youngest son, however, politics was liberating, not threatening. The countryside in contrast was stifling, parochial. In an interview with the New Statesman many years later, Corbyn named as his favourite novel Gustave Flaubert’s Madame Bovary,57 the story of a bored French housewife who seeks escape from the banalities of her provincial life in adulterous adventures. For Corbyn, London and the activism he undertook there became a means of escape from the cloying confinement of his rural upbringing. Moving to north London, for the first time, in a way that Wiltshire, Shropshire, Jamaica, and certainly not his grammar school had not been, he was at home.

         That he ended up in north London was a happy accident. Worried by his lack of prospects and sensing his restlessness in Shropshire, Naomi persuaded Corbyn to apply for one of the few courses that would have him: Trade Union Studies at the Polytechnic of North London, now part of London Metropolitan University. Based on the Holloway Road, a busy thoroughfare cutting through the area of Islington he currently represents, North London Poly, as it was known, had recently been formed from the merging of two other polytechnics, the Northern and the Western, and had a respectable reputation, with the great historian A. J. P. Taylor on the lecturing staff.

         Corbyn moved to London with a friend from the Wrekin Young Socialists, Jim Brown, and the pair found themselves temporary accommodation near the polytechnic in Islington while they looked for permanent digs. Fired up by his new surroundings, Corbyn set about seeking out like-minded souls. Bored of his studies one day, he wandered into the offices of Tribune, the fortnightly socialist newspaper, in the hope of striking up a conversation. By coincidence, working there was Valerie Veness, whom he had first met the year before at the Young Socialists’ Camp in Skegness. Her husband Keith Veness says: ‘Valerie rang me and said: “Do you remember that Jeremy Corbyn bloke? He’s just walked into the office.” He’d obviously just moved to London.’

         Keith and Valerie Veness were thrilled to learn that Corbyn was in Islington, and not just because they enjoyed his company. Their local branch of the Labour Party, Islington North, had become split, with the Member of Parliament, Michael O’Halloran, unpopular with members on the left of the party. As an energetic young man who seemed to share their political outlook, the Venesses hoped that the new arrival Corbyn would become an ally in the constituency party. Ultimately, the couple would win their war against O’Halloran – but not for more than a decade. To the couple’s disappointment, Corbyn’s stay in Islington lasted only a few months before he found cheaper accommodation three miles away in Hornsey, moving into a studio flat on Etherley Road. He joined the Hornsey Constituency Labour Party (CLP) and the local branch of the Young Socialists, quickly becoming one of the leading lights of both organisations. Islington North would have to wait.

         Toby Harris – now Lord Harris of Haringey, a former leader of Haringey Council – first got to know Corbyn at this time. He says:

         
            I was a very sad young teenager and joined the Labour Party at the age of sixteen. I had been an active branch secretary when I was still at school, went to Cambridge and came back during the holidays, and somehow while I was in my first year at Cambridge he appeared on the scene. He was at that time what would have been known as a ‘bedsit infiltrator’. He lived in a bedsit, he just turned up, was very left-wing and gradually took over the local party. Each time I came back and re-engaged I discovered that Jeremy was a more significant figure.

         

         Around the time that he moved to Hornsey, Corbyn quit his studies at North London Poly. Still smarting from his experiences at the Adams’ School, Corbyn found it no easier to deal with authority when he resumed his education. His brother Piers told The Sun: ‘Jeremy had his studies terminated because he had big arguments with the people in charge. He probably knew more than them.’ During his brief period in higher education, Corbyn enjoyed student politics, going on rallies and taking part in debates. The writer and commentator Leo McKinstry, who knew him a little later, claims Corbyn never moved on intellectually from his time at the poly. ‘[H]e is an unreconstructed Trotskyite whose views have remain frozen ever since he attended his first demonstration in the late 1960s. Corbyn is the permanent rebellious adolescent,’ McKinstry has said.58
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